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Praise for Alger Hiss: Framed

“Joan Brady’s highly readable take on Alger Hiss adds valuable, new personal information to his ever-fascinating story. It will be of interest not merely to scholars of the case, but anyone who cares about history and getting it right.”

—Victor Navasky, publisher emeritus of The Nation, winner of National Book Award for Naming Names

“Joan Brady has written an evocative, graceful memoir filled with novel reminiscences of her friendship with Alger Hiss. It is a most unusual book, using memory and a Talmudic examination of legal texts to explore the still contested terrain of the Hiss trials. As such, it is sure to incense those historians and partisans wedded to the national narrative crafted by Whittaker Chambers and Richard Nixon. Insightful and provocative, Brady has reopened the Hiss case to a new generation of readers.”

—Kai Bird, winner of the Pulitzer Prize for The Triumph and Tragedy of J. Robert Oppenheimer

“Joan Brady’s Alger Hiss: Framed, a personal story about the Alger Hiss case, written by one of our most talented and accomplished writers, is a wonderfully vivid account that conveys the intensity of some of the darkest days in our post-WWII history. It’s also full of revelatory new material about the case that started young Richard Nixon on his road to the White House and convinced Americans that the Reds really were threatening our freedom. It’s time to revisit this extraordinary story, which historians have been debating for the last half-century; Brady’s fresh and compelling book will introduce a new generation to the trial that transformed America.”

—Jon Wiener, professor of History, University of California, Irvine

“A bracing reminder of what indeed was so hateful, so villainous about Nixon and his political ascent.”

—Spectator

“[An] extraordinary book … part autobiography, part memoir of Hiss, part thriller, and also a reminder of what happens when a society becomes infected by the paranoia that produced the American ‘Red Scare’ after the First and Second World Wars.”

—New Statesman

“Brady’s book … offers a unique perspective…. She is an expert storyteller.”

—Guardian
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Introduction

You would expect the President of the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace to win a Nobel Peace Prize, especially when he’s the same man who organized the United Nations, served as its Secretary General while he did so, and then carried the UN charter home to the White House on a special army plane. Instead, this very man was tried in a criminal court, found guilty, and sent to prison. It was called the Trial of the Century, and it was a media circus second to none. The year was 1951. The convicted felon’s name was Alger Hiss.

I knew Alger for more than thirty years, and I never liked him much. I can’t for the life of me figure out why—not even now—but because of that, I didn’t bother to learn about his case until I faced prosecution myself, though on hardly a scale approaching his. Still, court cases—the threat of a stretch in prison—do something to a person. Nobody I knew had ever stood in the dock. Except Alger. He was long dead by then, and I started reading about him out of morbid interest in the ordeal of a fellow sufferer. But the more I read, the more outraged I became. Facts had been twisted and distorted to link together chains of events conjured out of nowhere. Witnesses had been intimidated and suborned. Evidence had been created. Evidence had been suppressed. Evidence had been destroyed. This was a vicious, politically motivated frame-up, and it’s never been properly exposed. The longest-serving justice of the United States Supreme Court wrote: “In my view no court at any time could possibly have sustained the conviction.”

The Hiss case put Richard Nixon on the road to the White House; he sailed into the Senate while he was still prosecuting Alger, and he went straight from the Senate to the job of vice president under General Eisenhower. A decade later he had the Oval Office to himself. He’d worked hard for his prize. He says in his White House tapes that he had Alger convicted long before the Trial of the Century began. How? “We won the Hiss case in the papers.” And so he had. Never before had there been a press campaign like it. Nixon turned the hero of the United Nations into the villain of the Cold War against Communist Russia with headline screamers and an extraordinary jumble of old-fashioned lies. The most jaw-dropping of them involved his proof of the “greatest treason conspiracy” in American history. This was, he said, “microfilm” of “top secret” army documents to be passed to the Soviets. One of his sidekicks plucked it out of a pumpkin, a midnight raid on a vegetable patch that made headlines all across the country. He said the developed film would make a pile three feet high. Three feet high: thousands upon thousands of pages. Photographs of him examining this very microfilm with a magnifying glass—just like Sherlock Holmes—were plastered across front pages everywhere.

What was in this huge, amazing cache? Nobody knew. Nixon wouldn’t tell. It was too secret. The Justice Department subpoenaed it. Nixon refused to turn it over; he said the Justice Department was riddled with Communists, that they’d cover up this terrible act for no better reason than to keep the present government in office at the next election. He kept the film top secret for a quarter of a century. An incredible feat. For all those years, he manipulated everybody into believing it was too sensitive to be revealed to anybody.

And what did it turn out to be?

Home camera snapshots of maintenance manuals from a public library.

Literally.

People sometimes call Alger Hiss “America’s Dreyfus.” The French military command charged army Captain Alfred Dreyfus with passing military secrets to Imperial Germany. Evidence was forged, tainted, planted, suppressed to make a case, and in 1894 they sent him for life to the Devil’s Island penal colony. A massive cover-up followed; the press and public opinion swallowed it whole. Dreyfus was a Jew, and antisemitic riots burst out all over France. World opinion was horrified. As Piers Paul Read put it: “How could France, the most civilized country in Europe, experience this eruption of medieval barbarism?”

In Alger’s case, anti-communism played the role of that medieval barbarism. Communism was the major issue in America back in the middle of the last century; it all stemmed from fears of the Soviet experiment in Utopia that began in 1917: no social classes, no rich people, no poor ones, equal rights for everybody. “I have seen the future and it works,” wrote a famous American journalist. The trouble was, it was working only if you averted your eyes from bloodbath and famine. By the time Alger was on trial, the dream was long gone; the terrifying Joseph Stalin had been in power for a couple of decades, and he’d turned a vast land mass into the biggest concentration camp in history. Nobody was allowed out. Nobody was allowed in. Soviet armies gobbled up East European countries one after another and patrolled barbed-wire prison fences that ran for hundreds of miles. Millions of people died trying to escape, and the rest of the world was on high alert.

As always, politicians exploited the vote-getting potential of the threat. Nothing new there. But in America, thought itself became the target. Who might be thinking like a Communist? Who wasn’t thinking the American way? How could you tell? How could anybody tell? It wasn’t easy. The US Armed Forces Information Services put out newsreels and manuals to help. Watch what people read, what organizations they support. Listen to them. These “secret Communists” use big words and long sentences. They play on your altruism with talk about civil rights, peace, racial discrimination.1

Report any suspicions to the police. Call up the FBI.

A single anonymous accusation was enough to put somebody on a list of suspected Communists, and there were hundreds of lists. Appearing on one was enough to destroy a reputation, lose a job and any hope of getting another. Friends and colleagues ran for fear of contamination. Here’s one ordinary guy who just happened to share a name with another ordinary guy on the suspect list: “This thing … has ruined my life, has ruined my livelihood, has ruined me.” He’d been told “that I had better get out of the neighborhood. They smeared my windows. Boys threw stones at my apartment. I have lost all my friends…. I am through as far as my life is concerned, and everything is through with me.”

It wasn’t just ordinary people, either. Nobody was exempt. Victims included such American royalty as Charlie Chaplin and Orson Welles.

One presidential candidate told New Yorkers, “The tragedy of our day is the climate of fear in which we live…. Too often sinister threats to the Bill of Rights, to freedom of the mind, are concealed under the patriotic cloak of anti-communism.” After a few years of this, Eleanor Roosevelt, widow of President Franklin D. Roosevelt—famous for the ringing declaration, “The only thing we have to fear is fear itself ”—spoke for many Americans when she said, “I am tired of being afraid.”

Parallels with terrorism are hard to escape. Bin Laden and the Islamic State are as real as Stalin and the purges. The accompanying political exploitation—its focus firmly on home-grown converts—is all too real too. We’ve reached the point where the immediate reaction to anybody with a vaguely Middle Eastern name is fear. The UK.gov and London Metropolitan Police sites give advice just as the US Army did. You’re to listen, watch, “trust your instincts,” and report to the police.2 Ring up MI5. Has your neighbor started attending a mosque? Does he invite Muslims to his house? Maybe he just acts funny. Doesn’t matter. Report him. You’ll remain anonymous, and your telephone call will put him on a “No Fly List.”

It’s the old familiar pattern. An enemy appears on the horizon. The politicians, the military, the media whip an amorphous force into an all-powerful evil that becomes the focus for people’s hatreds and the excuse for their failures. There’s solidarity in terror. We’re the multitude. If we’re to win, we have to think as one. You’re either for us or against us. Opportunists like Nixon move in to exploit the situation. That’s when casualties like Alger and Dreyfus happen.

Both were injustices on a monumental scale. Dreyfus’s has been corrected; he was eventually exonerated. Now it’s Alger’s turn.


PART ONE

Alger Hiss comes to dinner
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1960

One Friday afternoon Dexter asked me if I’d like to go out to dinner tomorrow with the greatest spy in American history: Alger Hiss. Public Enemy Number One.

“Alger Hiss!” I cried. “The Alger Hiss?”

“The very one. How about the des Artistes?”

Our apartment was on Manhattan’s Upper West Side just off the Hudson River. Early summer and already very hot. Manhattan was boiling. A sweaty taxi drive to a restaurant off Central Park. A sweaty ride back. The staff at the Café des Artistes were friendly, helpful, welcoming. At least they were with their ordinary customers like Dexter and me. But how would they react to Alger Hiss of all people? I’m scared of confrontations. I’d remembered the name because my civics book in the ninth grade had said that he was the most dangerous traitor in the history of the United States. He was America’s Judas Iscariot, and the glee in Dexter’s voice told me that his reputation hadn’t changed all that much.

“Why don’t I make us something here?” I said. But then I’m scared of people as well as confrontations. And Alger Hiss just had to be one of the scariest people around.

When the doorbell rang on Saturday evening, Dexter said, “You answer it.”

“No.”

“Come on.” “No!”

“He’s not going to bite you.”

I still remember unlocking the door. I still remember opening it. Usually I’m bad at faces. I didn’t even recognize my own sister when I hadn’t seen her for a few years. But I recognized this criminal at once from my schoolbook. He’d been decidedly handsome in that picture—boyish, clean-featured, wide-spread eyes, high cheekbones—even though the photographer had caught him in a police van being carted off to jail. He was handcuffed. He wore a dangerous-looking 1940s hat that shaded one eye. The youthful good looks somehow made him more sinister than ever, and the name! Alger Hiss! How could anybody with a name like that be anything other than a villain?

There’d been a mere ten years between the photo in my schoolbook and this hot Manhattan evening; the once-boyish Alger Hiss who stood in the hallway had been recast as a mediaeval flagellant, tall and gaunt, all bone and shadows.

He wore a dark suit, tie, white shirt that was a little loose around his neck.

I couldn’t think of a single word to say.

“You must be Joanie,” he said.

I nodded.

“I’m Alger. This is Isabel.”

I nodded.

“Do you think perhaps we might come in?”
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I was twenty years old. Dexter was fifty-two. When his wife had died a year and a half before, I’d offered myself up on a plate; I’d been sharing his apartment for several months, and by now I knew I wanted him more than I wanted to dance. I intended to marry the man; I intended to live with him for the rest of my life. Not that I was telling anybody about it. Ballet was the first thing I’d been good at. I really was good at it too, newly apprenticed to the New York City Ballet company itself, just waiting for my contract to come through.

Fortunately nobody in the company cared about the oddities of my private life.

Dexter was Dexter Masters, old family friend, director of an organization called Consumers Union that to this day puts out a magazine called Consumer Reports. The way I saw it, Consumers Union was the dullest creation on earth. Testing shoes and soap and underwear. What was a man like Dexter doing with junk like that? I excused him because I knew he needed the money; he’d got into debt finishing a novel. That was more like it. Writing novels and getting into debt suited him. He looked every inch a novelist in a Hollywood blockbuster. Joseph Cotten maybe. He was often mistaken for Cotten.

So. A dinner to produce for a novelist who looked like a movie star and his new friend, the famous spy.

When I’d forced myself into Dexter’s life, I couldn’t cook at all. I’d bought a book by a man called James Beard because page one opened with a recipe for how to boil water, and that’s where I’d had to start. Since then, my repertoire had become serviceable if limited. Herbed shrimp, beef Bourguignon, crème brûlée: that just might live up to Dexter’s elegant Riverside Drive apartment.

Dexter lived in one of those glorious old apartments with oak panelling and marble fireplaces. Strange things sat side by side, a Chinese monkey, a stone baby’s head, an ancient pewter hookah, all mixed in with New Yorker covers by his dead wife. I resented the pictures—if not quite as much as I thought I should—but I had no idea how he managed to get this mishmash to add up to something rich and deep-textured. Always changing too. He’d bought some napkins at a junk shop for this evening’s occasion, very pretty napkins even if many-times laundered, a floral print, hemmed by hand. This sounds like a meaningless detail, but these napkins play an important role—if a tiny one—in the way I’ve come to think of Alger Hiss and what happened to him.

Criminals have always fascinated me. I’m your usual moviegoer and thriller-reader: the romance of guys who choose their own moral code or have no moral code. That’s probably why I’d remembered the name Alger Hiss. Stories about him did appear regularly in the papers, but I didn’t read newspapers.

Too boring. I think if anybody had asked, I’d have said he was as dead as America’s other great traitor, Benedict Arnold. But then I’d have said they’d hanged Benedict Arnold, when in fact he fathered eight children and died warm in his own bed. Which is to say that part of the reason I was so tongue-tied seeing Alger Hiss at the door was sheer disappointment.

This was no villain out of a fantasy. Here was a Boy Scout who’d had a tough life. Virtue shone from every pore. It was very dispiriting. He’d never cross a street against a traffic light. The idea of him doing something treasonable seemed absurd.

But then I’m a lousy judge of character. Always have been.

Another part of what turned me mute was pure Greek tragedy: how could somebody like this have got himself into the mess he did?
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The high ceilings in those old apartments were designed to keep rooms cool even in a New York summer, and we had the windows open. But it was hot. Dexter offered to take Alger’s jacket. He declined.

I was abruptly irritated. I didn’t even know why. I mean, really, if a man doesn’t mind sweltering in his jacket, it’s his own damned business. Alger had spent years in prison wearing a convict’s fatigues; probably his jacket had meanings for him that people like me can only guess at. Not long before this, the movie Twelve Angry Men had come out with a character who’d done the same thing in a very hot jury room. One of the other jurors—the rest of them were dripping—was as irritable about it as I was and asked something like, “What’s the matter with you? Don’t you sweat?” The guy in the movie didn’t.

Alger didn’t seem to either. Which annoyed me all over again.

Dexter went off to make martinis, leaving me to entertain Alger and the woman who’d come with him. Her name was Isabel Johnson. Dexter had told me that she’d been a Vogue model, photographed by Edward Steichen and Alfred Stieglitz, and that she’d slept with practically every famous left-wing intellectual in America. I figured this arch-traitor was just one more notch on her rifle. I still think so. She’d even married a couple of these guys. Not Alger, though. At least not yet. She was a dreamy, preoccupied woman, early fifties, willowy, fine-featured, draped over a chair with graceful professionalism that was part coy and part disdainful. To a harsh young eye like mine, the skin was shot and the hair was dyed.

She left the small talk to Alger and me.

I wasn’t very good at situations like these although I’d been in them quite a number of times since my conquest of Dexter. Most of his friends were sophisticated New Yorkers, unfazed by the irregular relationship, if not agreeably titillated by it. But they were old enough to be my parents, and most of them treated me as they did one another’s grown-up children, that slightly too-enthusiastic interest in somebody who bored them out of their skulls.

After the customary complaints about weather and New York traffic, Alger introduced ballet as Dexter’s friends often did.

Yes, I was a dancer.

Yes, ballet was very demanding physically.

No, the pay wasn’t good.

With the ones I hadn’t met before, I’d usually go on to say that my father—once an eminent economist at the University of California at Berkeley—used to pontificate at me, “The rewards are not commensurate with the effort entailed.” Usually they laughed. Alger did too.

By this time Dexter would be back with drinks, and conversation would take off in some other direction. Which was fine with me. But tonight’s conversation wasn’t usual. While Dexter poured out martinis for everybody, Alger kept his attention on me. He was telling me how hugely he admired Balanchine’s musicality, that he’d seen the New York City Ballet’s Concerto Barocco not long ago and been awed by it.

Lots of people—I’m one of them—think that George Balanchine is the greatest choreographer the world has ever known. But back then, he wasn’t famous outside the ballet world. Dexter had never heard of him before I started talking about him, and Dexter was a highly literate man. Nor had his friends. Most of them didn’t think much of ballet at the best of times. Like my parents, they were interested in books, politics, newspapers, magazines. Theater and concerts, yes. Baseball, yes. Tennis too. Lots of things. But not ballet.

On top of that, Concerto Barocco just happened to be my favorite ballet.

Alger was leaning forward in his chair as he talked. Economical gestures and a gravity of movement rather like a fencer in the presence of a famous sword, nothing phoney, though, none of Isabel’s professionalism. Tense. Intense too. His interest in what I said seemed unfeigned, deeply personal, but completely without sexual overtones. For all practical purposes, this man had been the first Secretary General of the United Nations. He’d held lots of other elegant titles too. People had assumed he was on his way to being Secretary of State. And I slowly became aware that he was talking to me exactly as he must have talked to President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill. Maybe to the King of England for all I knew. I wasn’t just the most powerful person in the room; what I said was itself something of import, something to be assessed and weighed, not for the sake of flattery but for the sake of its intrinsic worth.

Unsettling. Disconcerting. Very disconcerting. I escaped as soon as I could.

In the kitchen, I worried that the beef wasn’t yet cooked, turned up the gas under it, and looked away to check the shrimp, only to smell cloth burning. Pot holder on fire. I dowsed it, heart racing. At least they’d be smoking out in the living room; they wouldn’t smell it. Everybody smoked in those days. Everybody except me, that is. Not because I was a dancer, only because my sister Judy had started smoking when she was no more than twelve, and I’d thought a little girl looked silly playing at Marlene Dietrich gestures with a cigarette. At least I smelled the beef before I heard it. Burning around the edges. I added water and prayed.

Back in the living room, conversation seemed to be going on well—Isabel now contributing—but I’d hardly sat down when I was abruptly unsure how high I’d set the gas under that beef. I got up to check. Alger got up too.

“Oh, Joanie, please sit with us for a moment,” he said.

I sat down at once, again unsettled, disconcerted. Dexter’s other friends politely ignored the cook’s comings and goings. Or offered help. Dexter gave me an amused glance of reassurance and turned to offer Isabel another cigarette. She took it and waited for him to light it, very much at home with those Marlene Dietrich gestures that had made Judy look silly.

He offered the pack to Alger.

Alger shook his head. “Thank you, no.”

“You don’t smoke?” Dexter asked.

Alger shook his head again. “I gave up in prison.”

I was stunned. It had never occurred to me that he’d be open about any part of what had happened to him, much less that part. And yet that was a part I really wanted to hear about: what goes on there, how real criminals manage metal bars every day and guards and ritual humiliation, not just guys in books. “Why?” I blurted out.

He said that he’d been a pack-a-day smoker but that Lewisburg Federal Penitentiary, where he’d served his sentence, allowed only one pack per prisoner per week. His family sent his quota regularly. Most prisoners didn’t have families who helped out, so he shared his with the men on his wing. Dividing one pack among sixty men meant only half a cigarette each, and sometimes there were disputes.

“It was easier to give up altogether,” he said.

He told this story as though he were describing a change in habit such as a Christian diplomat might make in a Muslim country. He seemed amused at his inability to find a more suitable solution, but there was no trace of anger, shame, resentment. Nor was there any sense of contempt for, censure of or superiority to his fellow inmates or the prison’s rules or the people who enforced them.

I didn’t know what I was watching now any more than I understood why I found the man both annoying and disconcerting. Strength of character? Simple stoicism? A martyrdom consistent with the flagellant’s appearance? Why no anger or bitterness? Why no contempt or censure?

Where was evidence of what I would feel in his situation?

Dexter told me that when Alger got out of prison, he had no money and no job prospects. Working for a manufacturer of women’s hair-clips came first. Then he met a man who owned a printing plant and had just bought an old-fashioned stationery store called Davison-Bluth on the west side of Manhattan. Alger became a salesman for fifty dollars a week against monthly commissions. People who might have refused to see a representative from so insignificant an operation were sometimes intrigued enough to listen when he announced, “This is Alger Hiss.”

“I thought maybe he could handle the paper for the Reports,” Dexter said, as intrigued as others had been when he heard the salesman’s name. But the circulation of Consumer Reports was somewhere near a half-million, and Davison-Bluth was too small to supply a print run that large. So Dexter asked him to dinner instead.

Those pretty, secondhand napkins that Dexter bought: when we sat down at the table, Alger carefully set his aside and put a Kleenex tissue from his pocket into his lap instead. He wasn’t ostentatious about it, but he wasn’t furtive either. I assumed that I’d missed something, that the napkin I’d given him was stained or torn.

“I’ll get you another,” I said.

He stopped me, saying that the napkin itself was fine—perfect—but that it always bothered him to use napkins when somebody had spent time washing and ironing them. Besides, a Kleenex did the job just as well. He said this with a touch of humor; it appeared to be concern for Dexter’s maid—or for me—and very fetching in its way, and yet …

Dammit all, that really annoyed me. Far more than the jacket.

It made me feel that I’d somehow lost a moral high ground I’d never tried to claim.

But he was politeness itself when it came to the beef, which hadn’t benefited from burning around the edges. We were happily past that—onto the crème brûlée—when the discussion turned to his case. He explained that the charges brought against him gave him his first experience as a defendant in a trial and that he hadn’t realized in all the years he’d worked as a lawyer that the defendant was just another onlooker. What matters is the “gladiatorial contest”—his phrase—between the two opposing attorneys. Nothing else.

He was as calm and nonjudgemental about all this as he had been when he talked about giving up cigarettes.

When I was small, my mother told me about a nun in a convent who was admired by all the other nuns for her serenity. One young novice, filled with her own demons and unsure of her vocation, sought out the calm nun, begged for her secret. The calm nun drew up her habit and revealed an open, suppurating ulcer on her thigh. The story still gives me the creeps. But it was at least a theory as to how Alger managed to live, one I accepted for a very long time. The reality—I’m certain of it—was far simpler, but there’s nothing in the world harder to grasp than simplicity. For the time being, though, the nun had to serve as an explanation for what looked to me like a surreal detachment in a person describing the battle that had ripped apart everything that was meaningful to him right in front of his very eyes.

“How can anybody call that fair?” Isabel demanded. It was the first time that evening she’d seemed really engaged.

“‘Fair’ isn’t what courts are about,” Alger said.

“How can you say that?” She was as annoyed as I’d been. “Look what they did to you. They convicted an innocent man. Trials are supposed to find the truth. Courts are supposed to be about justice.”

Alger shook his head. “Courts are about law, Isabel. Not justice. Sometimes the jury does deliver justice. This time they didn’t come to the right conclusion.”
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Dexter was a much better judge of character than I am. “Was Alger really a spy?” I asked after they’d left.

“I don’t know,” he said. He didn’t seem to care one way or the other. “I never could decide. Still can’t.”
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1948

On Monday morning, 2nd August 1948, Alger Hiss took the train from Vermont into New York City. Every year, the Hisses spent the summer in the village of Peacham; Alger’s wife Priscilla and his small son Tony were staying on a few weeks longer. New York always boils in August, and August 1948 was special: one of the most miserable heat waves in American history was getting underway.

The offices of the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace were probably air-conditioned; it was not uncommon even that long ago, and the Endowment is a fiercely prestigious think tank. Alger was its president. There had been only two presidents before him, and both were Nobel Peace laureates. He worked at his office for the rest of the day, then went home to his apartment on Eighth Street and University Place in Greenwich Village, where it would have been hot as hell. That evening a reporter called and told him that a man by the name of Whittaker Chambers was about to testify in front of a congressional committee that Alger Hiss was a Communist.

Did Alger wish to comment?

He did not.

Accusations like this came with the job; there had been rumors around for years, not just about Alger, but about lots of people, important people like him and droves of unimportant ones. For the unimportant and the not-so-important, the consequences could be dire—everybody knew that—but he’d never taken the rumors about himself seriously before, did not intend to this time.

The next day, shortly after twelve thirty, his office phone began ringing: reporters and press agencies. This person Chambers had upped the charges1: Alger was the leader of an underground Communist cell right in the State Department. Alger told them all that the charges were untrue and as far as he knew, he’d never even seen the man making them.

He had not expected this upping of the charges. He had not expected nationwide publicity, either, and he was angry. He’d heard the name Whittaker Chambers before. In one of the FBI’s investigations into State Department officials, agents had asked him if it meant anything to him. It hadn’t then, and it didn’t now. Strangers crawling out of the woodwork to make accusations without even a hint of due process: there was “a matter of principle” at stake.2 It was about time somebody stood up and said so. He consulted friends over lunch. One of his party was John Foster Dulles, Chairman of the Endowment; he urged Alger to “think back” to the bad old days of the Depression when terrible conditions outraged so many Americans and led them to associate with “all kinds of people.”3 Another friend said the Committee was only generating headlines for the election to come. Why hand them more?

Everybody at lunch agreed. No sensible person appears willingly before the House Un-American Activities Committee, much less demands an audience.

Ignore it. Just give it time to go away.
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The House Un-American Activities Committee—HUAC for short—was an arm of the House of Representatives with a Congressional budget and a Congressional mandate: investigate subversion among private citizens, government employees, and organizations with Communist ties.

The committee that stood in 1948 grew out of a series of similar committees dating back to 1918 and fear of the Soviet Union, faraway birthplace of Lenin, Stalin, and the rule of the proletariat. The meaning of subversion did shift from time to time over the thirty years that followed. The Committee’s work included an investigation into a hoax of a fascist plot to march on Washington and take over the White House; the compilation of the “Yellow Report,” arguing that it was not at all un-American to confine the “yellow peril” of Japanese Americans in concentration camps during World War II; and a decision not to look into the Ku Klux Klan because, as one of several white supremacist members said, “The KKK is an old American institution,” a comment that’s moved into the nation’s folklore.

But for the Committee—and the country at large—“un-American” and “subversive” came to mean “Communist.” In the first eleven days of its existence, it claimed that 2,850 government employees were Communists and that Communists controlled 438 daily newspapers, 640 trade unions and consumers’ groups. HUAC’s Chief Investigator, Robert Stripling, wrote that communism was a conspiracy with a simple goal: “The destruction of life as we know it and of the liberties we won at such heavy cost.”1 That’s fearsome enough, but he went further. “The aim and object of communism are always the same—complete control over the human mind and body, asleep and awake, in sickness and in health, from birth to death.”2 If you lived under communism, “you would be liquidated on the slightest suspicion of doing ANYTHING contrary to orders.”3 The capital letters are Stripling’s, not mine.

With a vision as terrifying as this, it’s hard to keep in mind that the Communist Party of the United States was not only a legal political association but had been one for nearly two decades. It operated out of registered headquarters in New York City. It paid its taxes, ran candidates in local, state, and federal elections, including presidential elections; it operated several publishing companies and published books, pamphlets, journals, and daily newspapers that appeared in bookshops and on public newsstands. There’d never been any court proceedings showing—or even alleging—a connection between Communist ideas and acts of espionage or treason. Never. Belonging to the Party was as legal as the Party itself.

But the public face of communism was the least of the Committee’s concerns. During the Great Depression of a decade before, many people had turned to communism as a solution to the problems of the poor, the downtrodden, the disenfranchised. HUAC claimed that this very altruism lay at the heart of “the Red plot against America,” and the average American was too innocent to understand it4; it thrived throughout the country in these post-war years as an underground movement with its aims unchanged and its indoctrination disguised as idealism. The Committee drew up lists of “Communist front organizations.” Suspicion fell on groups that lobbied for changes in the law and groups that offered help, education, or friendship to Americans in need or to people in other countries—groups active in racial equality, welfare, prison reform, unions, the education of working people, international peace, international cooperation. HUAC subpoenaed members of these groups, their friends, relatives, colleagues, supporters. “The real center of power in communism is within the professional classes,” Stripling wrote. Then he enumerated them: “teachers, preachers, actors, writers, union officials, doctors, lawyers, editors, businessmen, even millionaires.”5

Many of the subpoenaed were Jews—in tune with an antisemitic America back then—and people who had Jewish or “Negro” friends and colleagues. The world’s most famous physicist, Albert Einstein, was a Jew; the Committee accused him of being a “foreign-born agitator” who sought “to further the spread of communism throughout the world.”6 The Boy Scouts and the Campfire Girls were on lists of suspect organizations; both encouraged black children to join, segregated troops to be sure, but the threat was there. They feared that ten-year-old child star and all-American sweetheart Shirley Temple was a Communist dupe,7 that Elizabethan playwright Christopher Marlowe spoke like a Red, and that ancient Greek playwright “Mr. Euripides” preached class warfare.8

Somewhere in their investigations came the exchange:

“But, Mr. Chairman, I’m an anti-Communist.”

“I don’t care what kind of Communist you are.”

One of the arguments that Alger’s lunchtime advisers put to him was that nobody took the Committee seriously, and reports like these certainly explain why. But while sophisticated people mocked, the mocking had a nervous edge. HUAC was very powerful. Its members were elected representatives of Congress, and the Committee acted like a court with all a court’s powers. What caused the real nervousness, though, is that HUAC didn’t have any of a court’s boundaries. Their Annual Report stated: “Rules of evidence including cross-examination are not applicable.”9

“Rules of evidence” are not just protocol. They originated centuries ago as protection against a criminal charge being brought without proof that a crime had been committed. They’re behind what sometimes looks like no more than legal pedantry: when questions can be asked, what kinds can be asked, how they have to be phrased, who can ask them. Exemption meant that HUAC—both Committee members and staff—could ask whatever they pleased whenever they pleased: leading questions, irrelevant questions, questions based on rumor or hearsay or merely whim. They could comment however they wanted to on whatever they wanted to, no matter how inaccurate or damaging. All of it went into the record.

As the chairman of the committee told one witness, “The rights you have are the rights given you by this committee. We will determine what right you have got and what right you have not got before this committee.”

HUAC also made full use of its exemption from the rules of evidence when it issued subpoenas; no actual evidence was necessary. They subpoenaed people because somebody said they were Communists or knew Communists or affiliated with Communists. Ten years ago you had a friend called So-and-So. Fifteen years ago you attended such-and-such a meeting or signed such-and-such a petition. Sometimes a listing was all it took to confirm guilt, and lists of suspects were everywhere. People lost jobs because of it. Friends shunned them for fear of suffering the same fate. Poverty and despair often followed. Sometimes prison as well, occasionally suicide.

Soon after HUAC became a permanent Congressional committee, the same Mississippi congressman who’d exempted the KKK from investigation—his name was John Rankin—turned the Committee’s attention to Hollywood: “the greatest hotbed of subversives in the United States” as he put it.10 Who built Hollywood? The Jews. Louis B. Mayer, Warner Brothers, Sam Goldwyn. HUAC couldn’t attack Jews outright, but they could finger a lot of them if they investigated the movie people who were “destroying—as best and as subtly as they could—the public’s confidence in its leaders, laws, and institutions.”11

The Hollywood hearings began with testimony from “friendly” witnesses, people who’d volunteered to testify; their reward was a guarantee of immunity against being accused themselves. The studio heads who volunteered—the great Walt Disney was one of them—made their aversion to communism very clear. So did a parade of actors. Ronald Reagan said Communists were “disruptive.”12 Gary Cooper didn’t really know what communism was but “from what I’ve heard, I don’t like it.”13 Actor Robert Taylor objected when people said things that sounded “pink.”14 Ginger Rogers’s mother complained bitterly that her famous daughter had been forced to say, “Share and share alike. That’s democracy.” Not democracy at all, Mrs Rogers testified. This was “definitely Communist propaganda.”

Then came the naming of names. What Communists do you know? Which people do you think are Communists? Or might be Communists? “Friendly” witnesses named lots of names. That was part of the deal. These names—many writers among them—received subpoenas. A subpoena made a witness “unfriendly,” a person to be prosecuted rather than questioned. And once subpoenaed, there was no choice; failure to appear was contempt of Congress and a probable prison sentence.

Without a court’s rules of evidence to protect them, witnesses who refused to name names had only one legal remedy: the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution. The idea behind the Fifth is even older than the evidence rules. It dates back to the Magna Carta and protection from confessions extracted by torture. The version in the US Constitution reads:

No person shall be compelled …

to be a witness against himself.

But there is a snag. Taking the Fifth does imply that a person has committed a crime: “I refuse to answer on the grounds that it may incriminate me.” In the public’s mind, HUAC had turned this ancient right into an admission of guilt: “Fifth Amendment Communists.”15 They were just as likely to lose their jobs—and never find another—as if they had confessed.

HUAC witnesses could bring a lawyer with them, although having one implied guilt, and the lawyer could give advice on how to answer questions. But since cross-examination wasn’t permitted, no lawyer could interrupt anything the Committee asked about or commented on. Nor could they question any person who brought or implied a charge against a client, however outrageous the charge or the implication. A group of witnesses might honestly swear that they did not know Communists, and they’d still be in danger. A new witness might gain immunity by swearing that members of the group—any one of them or all of them—did know Communists. Now the charges were perjury and another potential prison sentence. People were so scared that many were willing to become “friendly” witnesses—to swear to anything—in return for immunity themselves.

Hollywood’s “unfriendly” witnesses decided to fight. They created their own committee, and many in the industry joined them—Humphrey Bogart, Lauren Bacall, John Huston. These were big names, and it was naming the names that bothered them most. The way they saw it, the Communist Party was a legal association and membership in it was legal; therefore, no Congressional committee could legally compel them to imply they’d committed a crime when they refused to give names of friends and colleagues who might belong to the Party or sympathize with it.

They called themselves the Committee of the First Amendment. The relevant part of this amendment reads:

Congress shall make no law …

abridging the freedom of speech.
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The Hollywood defense was that the First Amendment covered the freedom to remain silent as well as to speak.

Eleven writers and directors—all men—appeared before HUAC to argue the point. Bertolt Brecht was one of them, and at the time one of the most famous writers in the world; The Threepenny Opera was already a classic. You can still see some of his testimony and hear the rest of it in ancient recordings.16 It’s not impressive. Despite his commitment to the First Amendment, he cooperates at once in a heavy German accent: he’d never been a Communist, had no idea if he knew any Communists, had never talked to anybody he thought might be a Communist. He left for Germany as soon as he got off the stand.

That left ten. One by one, these ten tried to read statements into the record. One by one HUAC shut them down. One by one they invoked their Constitutional right to silence and one by one were cited for contempt of Congress. Even while they were still testifying, fifty Hollywood executives met in secret and announced that the ten were suspended without pay and that hereafter their studios would hire nobody with suspected Communist affiliations.

On November 24, 1947, Nixon himself, the junior Congressman from California, persuaded the House of Representatives that the Committee had the right to ask its questions and witnesses did not have the right to refuse to answer.17

The ten writers—they became known as the Hollywood Ten—landed in prison.

They had committed no crime; all they had tried to do was defend themselves, their families, and their colleagues against vague accusations of subversive thoughts brought by unnamed accusers.

Here is Alger’s “matter of principle” at its most dramatic.
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After lunch—despite his friends’ unanimous advice—Alger wrote a telegram to HUAC, demanding the opportunity to meet his accuser and deny the charges under oath.

He told them he had Endowment business in Washington and proposed that he testify that morning. HUAC had never taken on a “friendly” witness of his stature before; he was pushing them into dangerous territory, and he had no doubt that he “would be able to show them promptly that they had been misled.”1 From what he knew of them and of himself, he could thrash the lot of them into a public apology with one hand tied behind his back. A public collapse in front of somebody like him just might spell an end to the Committee’s reign of terror.

It probably never occurred to him that they might harm him.

That’s one of the things about legal cases, though. You can’t anticipate what they’re going to toss in your face—it’s one reason they make such good thrillers—and an element inserted itself into Alger’s case that nobody could have anticipated. The makeup of the Committee was constantly changing. Alger’s response to HUAC provoked the special interest of one of its newer members, an obscure young representative from California, first elected to Congress only the year before.

His name was Richard Milhous Nixon.
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Alger was born in 1904, and the Hiss family was society in Baltimore, Maryland. They had a horse and carriage. There were cooks, chauffeurs, chambermaids as well as nannies and private schools for the children. But when he was two and a half years old, something went badly wrong; the only hope for the family finances was a cotton mill down south in Charlotte, North Carolina. Alger’s mother flatly refused to go. The Sunday morning after she had said so, Alger’s father shouted downstairs that she was to call the doctor.

Then he slit his throat from ear to ear with one of those old-fashioned straight-edge razors.

The horse and carriage had to go. No electricity in the house, no heat except for the kitchen stove—the kids fetching coal for it from the basement. But they kept a servant. The Hisses just might have been connected to the princely family of Hesse-Darmstadt; a tight budget can’t take away the sense of entitlement that comes with a name like that, and such people have servants. Mrs. Hiss went right on preparing her children for their place in Baltimore society. After school every weekday, Aunt Lila read out loud: Coleridge, Scott, Dickens, Shakespeare, the King James Bible, some light stuff too, Edward Lear’s limericks and Alice’s Adventures. There was tennis and horse riding. Saturdays were for music lessons, art classes, German conversation. Sundays were for Sunday school and church; this was a religious family—grace and family prayers too—an Episcopalian family, the faith of the American elite.

There were five Hiss children, a happy, chattery, close-knit clan despite the family tragedy. Alger was the playful, mischievous one, just like a hero in one of those old-fashioned books for boys. He scared his younger brother Donald with bears under the bed and made him giggle in church by pretending to stick hatpins in ladies’ rumps. He was lazy at school and lousy at lessons, skiving off to lie in the sun, practice smoking, play pool. His only distinction was an athletics medal won only because he was so short—they called him “runt”—that the coach could pit him against younger kids.

This clearly would not do. The values of the Hesse-Darmstadts dated back to chivalry: fear God, never lie, fight injustice, protect the weak. When Alger was sixteen, his mother sent him to a prep school called Powder Point Academy, “where everything is bent toward developing self-mastery.”1 In two terms the runt turned into a gangly basketball player of six foot one, arms and legs all over the place but as good-looking as he was tall, deep-set eyes—very blue—dark hair, those high cheekbones, an elegant face, sharply defined, regular features. The Academy did serious work inside his head too; at the end of his time there, the yearbook said, “Alger is the epitome of success.”2 Johns Hopkins University followed. He took the place by storm, fanciest fraternity, president of the student council, member of Phi Beta Kappa and practically every other social and intellectual honor available to an undergraduate. He was voted the “most popular” in his class.3

After that came Harvard Law School, where he shone so brilliantly that his illustrious tutor, Supreme Court Justice Felix Frankfurter, recommended him for the job of law clerk to the even more illustrious Supreme Court Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes. Holmes was a popular figure, a Civil War veteran with a magnificent handlebar moustache, the most widely cited judge in US history then as now, famous for the phrase “clear and present danger” and for his courage as “The Great Dissenter.” Alger spent a year with him, “a celestial time” in his life,4 as he told his son long afterward. He read out loud to the great man, learned the secret of writing Supreme Court decisions. It’s like pissing, Holmes told him. “You apply pressure, a very vague pressure, and out it comes.”5

That’s where he learned the deepest secret of his profession, the one he’d used to explain the basics of his case over crème brûlée at Dexter’s apartment. “This is a court of law, young man, not a court of justice.”

One of the conditions of working with Holmes was not to marry, but Alger married anyway. The woman was Priscilla Fansler Hobson, known as “Prossy”: heavy eyebrows and a strong jaw offset by gentle eyes, a widow’s peak, and a lissom, graceful body made for sex. He’d been in love with her for years, but she’d married somebody else, had a child, divorced, not become available again until now.

Holmes promptly forgave the transgression and allowed them a whole weekend for a honeymoon.

The year with Holmes coincided with the 1929 stock market crash that brought on the Great Depression. Banks started collapsing so fast it makes our own shaky system look positively sturdy. Queues like the ones that stretched outside their doors at the beginning of our recent crunch, stretched outside thousands of banks all over the US. Reserves hemorrhaged at the rate of $15 million a day. The value of money lurched so erratically that global currency exchanges substituted a question mark for the dollar sign.

Nobody could keep track of unemployment, either. Was it one person in six who wanted a job and couldn’t get one? One in five? One in four? Nobody knew. There were no welfare programs to help—no unemployment benefit, no housing benefit, no health benefits—and no solution to hunger but breadlines, begging, soup kitchens, stealing, rioting, hobo jungles. With no money for food, mountains of it rotted. Farmers couldn’t earn a living; they rioted. Crime rates soared. No solution to cold, either. Whole families huddled together in tar-paper shacks in ghettoes in every city, only to be moved on from plot to plot like the homeless of today. An aimless, hopeless, fearful time.

Businesses were collapsing right and left too, which meant that the need for lawyers was absolute; nobody came with better credentials than Alger Hiss. He went from Holmes to the most prestigious law firm in Boston, and he shone there as he had everywhere else. The Depression didn’t really touch him—except to bring in clients. The most important part of his life was Priscilla. He wanted her happy, and she wasn’t happy in Boston. She yearned for the excitements of New York City; in 1932 he transferred to a Wall Street firm.

As he wrote of himself later, “a not too uncharitable characterization” of his life up to this point “could well be the Progress of a Prig.”6 In Manhattan, richest of cities, he saw his first breadlines. He saw his first soup kitchens. He saw shantytowns in parks and vacant lots. He saw beggars on the streets. He watched the misery grow day by day, and he saw how shallow his upbringing had made him. He took on pro bono work in the hopes of using what he knew to help—only to realize how few remedies the law offered people in such a state.

The law needed changing, and Franklin Delano Roosevelt—running for President of the United States—proposed to do just that. Roosevelt was a snazzy Harvard graduate like Alger, but a seriously rich one, the only disabled person ever to come anywhere near the Oval Office. He was as spoiled as they come and almost too charming, but there was a profound optimism in him; they sang “Happy Days Are Here Again” at his rallies. He offered people a New Deal, and he captured American hearts; a third of the electorate switched parties to vote for him, the first Democrat in eighty years to win such a sweeping victory. It was in his inaugural address that he delivered that most famous line: “The only thing we have to fear is fear itself.”

Roosevelt had a wonderful brain, and his New Deal was a stroke of genius. As soon as he was in office, he had Congress enacting legislation with dozens of alphabet agencies covering every aspect of economic redevelopment. NRA: the National Recovery Administration. WPA: the Works Progress Administration. FDIC: the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The New Deal’s extraordinary achievement is that it managed to string a tightrope between big business and the armies of young idealists, who saw communism as the only way to distribute wealth in a country where so many people were going hungry.

Maybe tightropes are dangerous, but they’re exciting. Alger’s old teacher Felix Frankfurter urged him to join. He was already euphoric over Roosevelt’s victory. He already saw that the New Deal was a crusade worthy of the chivalric code he’d grown up with, and this was a national emergency. He went to Washington in 1933 as assistant general counsel to the Agricultural Adjustment Administration, the alphabet agency AAA, set up to curb the power of the agricultural conglomerates and create a legal structure to support the individual farmers whose crops he had seen rotting in the streets. A big job, a job with serious authority, a “heady experience.”7 Alger himself helped draft legislation to give underprivileged Americans the legal remedies that New York had taught him they didn’t have.

He also became counsel for the Special Committee on Investigation of the Munitions Industry, chaired by Senator Gerald Nye: war-profiteering, the scandal of American businesses arming Hitler’s war machine. He did both these jobs with such ingenuity, enthusiasm, and success that the Department of State came next, fulfillment of a childhood dream, assistant to the Assistant Secretary of Economic Affairs. World War II broke out. He rose to Special Assistant to the Director of the Office of Far Eastern Affairs, then to Special Assistant to the Director of the Office of Special Political Affairs, then to Assistant to the Assistant Secretary of State, then to Executive Secretary of the Dumbarton Oaks Conference.

That’s where the idea of the United Nations was born.

The Yalta Conference came in February of 1945, right near the end of the war. Yalta just has to be one of the most important conferences in modern history. The “Big Three” were all there in person: Roosevelt, Churchill, and Stalin. The agenda was to coordinate strategy to defeat Hitler and Japan, decide how to divide up postwar Europe and how to punish the Nazis. Alger helped draft the treaty signed there, and he attended the conference itself as one of Roosevelt’s personal assistants. Photographs at the vast round table in one of the special “Big Three” meeting rooms show him right behind Roosevelt, three seats away from Churchill, straight across from Stalin.

They say that if you mount the wild elephant, you go where the wild elephant goes. Every one of those three was a wild elephant, and they all wanted to go in different directions. Roosevelt didn’t want Churchill to invade Japan—he’d demand more colonies when the war was over—but he did want to arrange invasion dates with Stalin. Roosevelt and Churchill wanted to ensure that Stalin didn’t make a separate peace with Germany and didn’t learn details of the atomic bomb that the US was developing. Stalin’s position was so strong he could demand almost anything he wanted from either of them; for the most part, he got it too. The atmosphere was so tense that when Anthony Eden, a mere member of the British delegation back then, went to take a pee and found Stalin in the line behind him, he sprayed the walls.

After Yalta, the peace-to-come preoccupied everybody. How to make it international? How to keep it? Alger was Secretary General of the San Francisco United Nations Conference on International Organization, which set up the United Nations itself. After the war ended, he was Director of the Office of Special Political Affairs: the search for ways to avoid World War III. He left the State Department to become President of the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace; now the search was for a workable system of international law.

The Endowment was founded in 1910 by the robber baron and philanthropist Andrew Carnegie, whose Carnegie Hall is the pinnacle of any musician’s career. Nobel Prizes for its two previous presidents had made the Endowment itself world famous. Its chairman John Foster Dulles was soon to be Secretary of State for President Dwight D. Eisenhower. Eisenhower himself was a board member. So was the founder of IBM. So was David Rockefeller, scion of the great Standard Oil family.

Such giddy heights belong in fairy tales. Where could such a man as Alger Hiss not go? No wonder everybody assumed that something as grand as Secretary of State had to come next. Instead came two years of headlines like these from the New York Times:

AUGUST 4, 1948

RED ‘UNDERGROUND’

IN FEDERAL POSTS ALLEGED BY EDITOR

Ex-Communist Names Alger Hiss

DECEMBER 16, 1948

ALGER HISS INDICTED IN SPY CASE

JANUARY 22, 1950

MR. HISS FOUND GUILTY

JANUARY 26, 1950

HISS IS SENTENCED TO FIVE-YEAR TERM8


PART TWO

HUAC in hot pursuit
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Whittaker Chambers was the HUAC informant whose name Alger had recognized from an FBI file. His testimony was that Alger had been the leader of a Communist cell inside the State Department; he said that he and Alger had been close friends, that he’d tried to get Alger to quit the Party and that Alger had wept at the thought.

He didn’t know much about Alger’s present job, got the Endowment’s title wrong, didn’t know what city it was in. A Committee staff member checked Alger’s dossier: New York. Which is odd. Official lists of Reds ran to hundreds of thousands, and they have Alger’s dossier right on hand? How did they know Chambers was going to name him? Come to think of it, how did a newspaper know the day before?

Rankin—the Congressman who exempted the Ku Klux Klan from investigation—grumbled that Alger had got the position only because state law prohibited asking him whether he was a Communist or not. “Of course, he can get into an institution of that kind in New York, but he couldn’t do it in Mississippi.”

Karl Earl Mundt, Congressman from South Dakota, threw in his bit: “Certainly there is no hope for world peace under the leadership of men like Alger Hiss.”1

HUAC added some thirty names to their list during that hearing, quite a net to spread in a few hours. Only three were foolish enough to reply. The first two were a Mr. and Mrs. Gold of Pittsburgh. The Committee read their telegram into the record: a Miss Bentley’s charges against them were “shocking and utterly untrue. The woman is entirely unknown to us, and in all fairness we urgently request the earliest opportunity to testify publicly and under oath to the utter falsity of her charges.”2

The Committee decided to let the Golds—relative nobodies—defend themselves “as soon as we can arrange the hearing.”

Then came Alger’s cable: “My attention has been called by representatives of the press to statements made about me before your committee this morning by one Whittaker Chambers. I do not know Mr. Chambers and insofar as I am aware have never laid eyes on him.”3 Alger did not say, as the Golds did of Miss Bentley, that Chambers was “utterly unknown to him,” a detail that will become absurdly important all too soon. But like the Golds, he said, “There is no basis for the statements made about me to your committee,” and he’d “appreciate the opportunity” to deny them “formally and under oath.”

The Chairman’s comment: “The Committee will hear Alger Hiss in public testimony tomorrow.”

This committee knows a PR opportunity when it sees one.
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Black and white film clips of the 1940s are so dark even in full daylight that they threaten claustrophobia and nightmare. Film noir is exactly the right term. There are many old newsreels of the Congressional Caucus Room in the old House Office building in Washington, DC, where Alger presented himself. The room no longer exists, but it must have been huge, ceiling too high to be seen in the clips, barely a sense of walls.

Cinema newsreels of sessions were very popular, and in the film clips, the space is packed, crammed. I’d have expected an attentive audience, but hardly anybody seems to be paying attention. People write, read, some chat, smoke, lots of milling about. The witness is the only place for the eye to rest. The press swarm around him—usually him, though occasionally her—like ants at a drop of honey. Flashbulbs explode. Huge double-reel cameras on tall legs and banks of floodlights all aim at him.

The Hollywood people probably took such razzmatazz in their stride, and Alger was an old hand at Congressional hearings. But he’d never seen anything like this.1 HUAC Chief Investigator Robert E. Stripling said that this August morning “drew perhaps the biggest turnout of reporters and spectators in the history of our inquiries.”2

Here’s another odd thing. It slips by unnoticed on a first reading, even a second or a third. All this is going on less than twenty-four hours after HUAC read Alger’s telegram into evidence. Good PR to choose the celebrity, but a response as big as this? Clearly HUAC knew it was going to happen; otherwise, they’d have chosen a smaller room. Getting the press was easy—telephones and wire services—but enough spectators to pack the place? The Hollywood hearings were in the news for weeks beforehand. How did so many people find out about this one so quickly? How did they know there was going to be enough press there to make a real occasion of it? How did so many people arrange to be away from work on a Thursday morning? And at such short notice?
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There’s a raised dais at one end of the room, a fluted, columned wall behind it—funeral drapery at the windows—and a long table atop it, angled forward across both ends. Ten men sit at this table, five Congressmen from the House of Representatives and five members of HUAC’s staff. The heat wave that greeted Alger in New York covers the whole of the East Coast; the Caucus Room isn’t air-conditioned, and these guys are all wearing suits and ties; no jackets off either, no ties loosened, not a rolled-up sleeve in sight.

The audience would know their faces from the Hollywood hearings. Today’s chairman, Karl Earl Mundt is balding, long upper lip, elfin mouth beneath it: a sheep face. He’s the one who fears for world peace “under the leadership of men like Alger Hiss”3; he’s a schoolteacher—psychology and economics—and a white supremacist but not a man without humor. Or a sense of theater. A sweltering audience can hardly be said to need warming up, but that’s just what Mundt is about to do.

He calls first on John Rankin from Mississippi, lover of the KKK—stern, gaunt face, wavy gray hair—and Rankin starts in on Roosevelt’s first vice president, Henry Wallace, the Progressive Party’s candidate for president in the next election. The public needs to know how come Communists “who were plotting the overthrow of the Government, were placed in key positions in his Department at a time when our young men were fighting and dying on every battle front in the world for the protection of this country.”4

But why talk about Wallace today? He’s no part of this. Unless you consider that he was Alger’s boss a while back, and lots of the people who see newsreels will know it.

Next come Russian spies in the government in 1943 arranging for the makings of a nuclear bomb to be flown to Russia from “a small obscure airfield in the United States.”5 John McDowell of Pennsylvania—tall, long face, an ex-journalist and editor—explains: “We know that a factory was flown entirely to Russia.”6 A whole atomic bomb factory?7 In 1943? When nobody knew a bomb would explode?

It just so happens that Alger was chief counsel to the Nye Committee, the Senate committee investigating the munitions industry.

McDowell goes on to “the widespread ramifications of this intense espionage ring” that the Committee has discovered was “deep in the State Department.”8

Which is where Alger had been working for well over a decade before he went to the Carnegie Endowment.

Now that they’ve tied him into three separate areas of sabotage—all in the first ten minutes of the hearing—an Illinois Congressman called Fred E. Busby takes the stand: a Clark Gable moustache and finger-waves in his hair, an army man and insurance broker—he does look like an insurance broker—who served four terms as a Republican Congressman but kept losing in between them. He’s up for reelection in 1948. This turns out to be important. The Committee is almost all Republicans, and every single member is up for election. All of them are on the campaign trail. And today they have newsreel cameras trained on them, a packed audience, and a New Deal Democrat in the pillory.

Busby starts naming names of suspected Communists in government. The list is as meaningless in the twenty-first century as the Bible’s begats: “Tom Tippett, E. J. Lever, Nathan Gregory Silvermaster, Carl Aldo Marzani …”9

Rep. Busby is very boring. After the begats, he reads out page after page of Civil Service Commission regulations for hiring government employees and finds them painfully inadequate. There are no guidelines for investigating what person reads, believes, does with his spare time, “whether the applicant associates with Negroes or has had Negroes to his home.”10 Busby says failure to probe into areas like this saddled the government with a man everybody knew was “an organizer for the Communist Party on New York City’s East Side”11 and another “whose wife has been a known Communist out in the open for many years,”12 He also says—more or less out of the blue—that the brigades who “went to fight in Spain were definitely 100 percent Communist outfits.”13

Democrats have been in power for twenty years. It looked as though they were going to stay there forever when the much-beloved Franklin Roosevelt died in office shortly after starting his fourth term. His much-less-loved vice president Harry Truman succeeded him, and this gives the Republicans a real shot at the White House. Communist subversion among Democrats is their most powerful weapon; they began developing it almost as soon as Roosevelt introduced the New Deal and the idea that society should help people who couldn’t help themselves. The Republican Busby says there’s been a cover-up. “Truman does not want the truth to come out because it would be embarrassing to the present administration.”14 People like Alger Hiss—he does state the name—were part of the New Deal’s Agricultural Adjustment Administration at a time when that department “could rightfully be termed the spawning ground of all Communists in government.”15

A lot of energy and ingenuity has gone into setting this scene for the morning’s star turn: gathering the press, rustling up a crowd for the occasion, spelling out the three separate areas of spying Alger could be tied to. And Busby’s role? Chairman Mundt thanks him kindly for showing “how these Communists and espionage agents have been able to weasel their way into Government, escape detection, and secure promotion after they have been there.”

Then he says, “Call the next witness, Mr. Stripling.”

Stripling shouts, “Mr. Alger Hiss.”16


8

Robert Stripling looked like a Mafia enforcer, dark circles around his eyes, the whites showing under the irises. He was Chief Investigator for the Committee, and he fitted right in. A decade before, he was assistant to the publicist for the German American Bund—a powerful US Nazi organization founded in 1933—helping organize parades to protest that the “New Deal” was the “Jew Deal” and Franklin D. Roosevelt was really a Jew called Frank D. Rosenfeld.1

In fact Americans saluted Nazi-style before Nazis did. A man called Francis Bellamy wrote the Pledge of Allegiance in 1892 and proposed an outstretched arm as the salute for it. Footage from the 1930s shows members of the Bund, swastikas on outstretched arms, pledging themselves to the Stars and Stripes. Hand-on-heart came in only when somebody noticed the awkward similarity.

Back in the 1948 Caucus Room, sheep-faced Mundt peers from the height of the dais at the man he’s already condemned as a danger to world peace.

“Are you Mr. Alger Hiss?”

“Yes, I am.”

“Please stand and be sworn.” Alger stands. “Do you solemnly swear the testimony you are about to give will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?”

“I do.”

“Be seated.”2 Both Mundt and Stripling had those pulpy faces that dissolve into pudding as they age. Pulpy bodies too. Not Alger. Here was the guy from my civics book, at ease, in control, a person wholly worthy of the media attention. Since he’s a “friendly” witness, he’s allowed to make a statement. He speaks without notes, which really annoys Stripling.3 “I am not and never have been a member of the Communist Party. I am not and never have been a member of any Communist-front organization. To the best of my knowledge, none of my friends is a Communist.”4

And so forth.

When lines intersect and speed off in different directions, they can get so far away from each other so quickly that it’s impossible to see what the angles between them could have been at the crossing. In Alger’s case there are only two lines that matter—literally only two—and by the time his trials roll around, it’s way too late. But here in this Caucus Room the angle between them is readily visible. The first line emerged from Alger’s telegram to HUAC: “I do not know Mr. Chambers and5, insofar as I am aware, have never laid eyes on him.”6 A lawyer’s caution rather than an outright denial like the Golds’ about their accuser, Miss Bentley, but as sore a point with him as with them. “I was angered,” he wrote later, “that the Committee had allowed this unknown man to attack me publicly before giving me the opportunity to challenge him.”7

He elaborates in his opening statement: “To the best of my knowledge, I never heard of Whittaker Chambers until in 1947, when two representatives of the Federal Bureau of Investigation asked me if I knew him.” He told the agents he didn’t. “So far as I know,” he goes on, “I have never laid eyes on him.”

He adds, “I should like to have the opportunity to do so.”

Before the hearing started, HUAC gave Alger a copy of Chambers’s testimony; it didn’t reveal much about the man himself. Nor did the newspapers. Chambers was a highly paid senior editor at Time magazine, born in Philadelphia, educated in public schools, a year and a half at Columbia University, had known Alger—and six other suspects—some time between 1924 and 1937.

Mundt asks Alger if he knew—when the Carnegie job came up—that Chambers had already told his tales to Assistant Secretary of State Adolf Berle.

Alger’s anger is there on the page: “I did not.”

“You had not heard that?”

“I did not.”8

Mundt presses again, “The Committee finds it very puzzling that Chambers whom you say you have never seen—”

“As far as I know, I have never seen him,” Alger interrupts. This is the lawyer again, somebody who understands rules of evidence and senses something amiss in the line of questioning. “Is he here today?”9

“Not to my knowledge.”

“I hoped he would be.”10 And again a little later, “I wish I could’ve seen Mr. Chambers before he testified.”11

Stripling takes over. “You say you have never seen Mr. Chambers?”

“The name means absolutely nothing to me, Mr. Stripling.”12

Stripling shows him a press photograph. “Have you ever known an individual who resembles this picture?”
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